STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

ORIGINAL

Certiorari to Sumter County

George C. James, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JUN 16 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT
PETITIONER

JAMES KEION SPANN,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-002135

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Did trial counsel render ineffective assistance in violation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution by failing to present an alibi defense through an available and willing alibi witness?

II. Did trial counsel render ineffective assistance in violation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution by failing to call an available and willing witness to impeach the state's only eyewitness where no physical evidence connected Petitioner to the crime?

STATEMENT

On July 11, 2009, a Lee County grand jury indicted Petitioner for murder, burglary in the first degree, and possession of a firearm during a crime of violence (2009-GS-31-0073). App. 379-380. On March 30-31, 2010, the state, represented by John Gentry, called the case for trial before the Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr., and a jury. App. 1. Deborah Butcher represented Petitioner. App. 1.

The trial

There was no question that Lindsey Lovely was shot five times on April 7, 2009. App. 59, ll. 16-24. There was no question Lindsey died as a result of the gunshot wounds. App. 59, ll. 16-24; App. 62, ll. 1-7. The only question was who pulled the trigger. App. 166, l. 7.

Mary Ann Lovely

Mary Ann Lovely, Lindsey's mother, was the state's main witness. App. 64, ll. 7-8. On the night of April 6, 2009, Mary Ann had a hard time sleeping because she "was feeling funny all day" and night. App. 65, ll. 1-3. She stayed up late talking to Meloniece and Elizabeth due to her inability to sleep. App. 65, ll. 2-19. As Mary Ann was on her way to bed, she heard a knock. App. 65, ll. 22-24. Ignoring it, she continued to her bedroom. App. 65, l. 24. Then, she heard the knock again. App. 65, ll. 24-25.

At trial, Mary Ann claimed that she and Elizabeth went to the door in response to the knocking. App. 66, ll. 1-2. Mary Ann "peeped through the hole ... and saw Duc at the door." App. 66, ll. 3-4. Mary Ann claimed "Duc" was Petitioner. App. 66, ll. 5-10. Upon seeing the person at her door, she ran to Lindsey's bedroom. App. 69, ll. 20-24. Unable to recall Duc's name – even his nickname, she told Lindsey "the boy is at my door," and when Lindsey wanted

more information, she told him it was “the boy, Duc.” App. 70, ll. 5-6.¹ At this point, Mary Ann added that the person at her door had a gun. App. 70, ll. 6-7.

Mary Ann claimed that when she was looking through the peephole, she observed the person lean back and look both ways. App. 70, ll. 8-11. This enabled her to see the gun. App. 70, l. 11. Additionally, she claimed “[h]e was clicking the gun.” App. 70, l. 11. On cross-examination, Mary Ann admitted she did not see a gun. App. 79, ll. 16-17. She stated only that she “heard the gun.” App. 79, ll. 16-17.

After alerting Lindsey, Mary Ann ran to her other son, who was disabled. App. 70, ll. 15-17. She put her disabled son under a bed. App. 70, ll. 20-21. She then heard gunfire. App. 70, ll. 23-24. During her testimony, she appeared to backtrack to some degree. After explaining that she placed her disabled son under a bed and heard gunfire, she then said that when she was in the kitchen the door “flew open” and Duc entered. App. 70, l. 23 – App. 71, l. 3. When the gunfire stopped, she ran out of her room and saw Lindsey on the floor – he had two bullets in his chest and blood was gushing out of his side. App. 71, ll. 5-19.

Mary Ann called 911 for help.² App. 72, ll. 11-16. After Mary Ann told the 911 operator there had been a shooting, the operator asked her to identify the shooter. App. 81, ll. 1-3. Mary Ann responded that she did not know. App. 81, ll. 1-3. During the trial, Mary Ann tried to explain away her conversation with 911 – she interpreted the 911 operator’s question as requiring an answer that supplied the individual’s “real name.” App. 81, ll. 1-14; App. 82, ll. 11-25. Mary Ann could offer no explanation of why she referred to the perpetrator in the plural,

¹ In her written statement to police, Mary Ann claimed only that she told Lindsay that “the boy” was at the door. App. 80, ll. 9-20. She never identified him as “Duc” to Lindsay, according to her written statement. App. 80, ll. 9-20.

² A recording of the 911 call was admitted as an exhibit at Petitioner’s trial. The exhibit is on file with this Court for review in conjunction with this petition for writ of certiorari.

“they” when speaking with the 911 operator, but at trial, she insisted there was only one person involved. App. 84, ll. 4-16.

Laying the foundation for impeachment pursuant to Rule 613, SCRE

During cross-examination, the following exchange occurred wherein trial counsel questioned Mary Ann regarding prior inconsistent statements, including a prior inconsistent statement to Michael Spann:

Q Did you tell anybody after this incident that you did not see [Petitioner]?

A I has [sic] not talked to anyone else after this incident about this situation, not any of my family.

Q Do you know a gentleman by the name of Michael Spann?

A Who?

Q Michael Spann?

A Michael Spann? I don't recall.

Q Is your testimony here today that you never told a Michael Spann that you never saw James Spann - -

Mr. Gentry: Objection, the testimony is that she doesn't know Michael Spann.

The Court: She can answer that question.

A I don't know who he is. I don't. Not by – not by you telling me his name. They could have call [sic] him something else, I don't know.

App. 84, l. 23 – App. 85, l. 13. This line of questioning continued:

Q Ms. Lovely, are you here telling me that your son was shot and you've never spoken to anyone about this incident?

A My family. I don't remember telling anybody on the outside anything.

Q Okay. Would the name Lenny refresh your memory?

A Oh, I know this guy name Lenny.

Q Do you know that's Michael Spann's street name?

A No.

Q ... So you do know a Lenny?

A Yes, I know a guy named Lenny.

Q Okay. This was a friend of your son's?

A No. He was a friend of my niece, but I have not talked to him about the situation. No, I have not.

App. 86, ll. 3-19.

Tameka Wilson

The only other substantive witness to testify on behalf of the state was Tameka Wilson. Wilson and Lindsey were in his room around midnight on April 7, 2009. App. 91, ll. 17-25. She recalled Mary Ann "coming to the door stating that she heard a gun being cocked at the door." App. 91, l. 25 – App. 92, l. 1. Wilson and Lindsey ran toward the door through a hallway. App. 92, ll. 2-3. The door was "kicked in," and shots were fired. App. 92, ll. 3-4. Wilson was behind Lindsey when he was shot. App. 92, ll. 20-23; App. 93, ll. 19-20.

Wilson heard the person who kicked in the door say, "where they at?" App. 94, ll. 1-4. She was not sure who the person was because she "never saw anybody." App. 94, ll. 5-12. She told police that she *thought* the person could have been Petitioner based on the voice and their prior relationship. App. 94, ll. 13-20. Wilson explained that she and Petitioner had ended their romantic relationship, so she told the police that the person who entered the home may have been Petitioner. App. 94, ll. 20-24. In short, she believed she heard Petitioner's voice, but she was uncertain. App. 95, ll. 3-17. Wilson spoke to the 911 operator as well. App. 99, ll. 15-24. Although she mentioned Petitioner's name four times during the conversation, she stated she believed she heard Petitioner's voice. App. 100, ll. 11-21.

The state presented no other evidence connecting Petitioner to the shooting. App. 148, l. 25 – App. 149, l. 3.

No defense case

During the state’s case-in-chief, the solicitor announced that one of the defense’s witnesses was “in Kirkland R&E,” and that Kirkland was “in quarantine.” App. 105, ll. 18-21. As a result, the state was not going to have the witness transported to court. App. 105, ll. 21-22. Trial counsel said she had no problem with the witness not being transported and she did not anticipate calling the witness any way. App. 105, ll. 24-25; App. 106, ll. 4-6.

At the conclusion of the state’s case, trial counsel announced that she did not intend to put up any evidence. App. 154, ll. 14-16.

The verdict &sentencing

Ultimately, the jury found Petitioner guilty as charged. App. 189, ll. 3-10. Judge Cothran sentenced Petitioner to his “natural life” for murder and burglary, and to five years’ imprisonment for the weapon. App. 196, ll. 2-8; App. 381-383. The judge ordered all sentences to be served concurrently. App. 196, ll. 2-9; App. 381-383.

Motion for new trial

On April 9, 2010, Petitioner filed a motion for new trial based upon jurors failing to disclose information during *voir dire*. Supp. App. 1-6. On May 13, 2010, Judge Cothran presided over a hearing on the motion. Supp. App. 7. Gentry represented the state, and Butcher represented Petitioner. Supp. App. 7. At the conclusion of the hearing, the judge denied the

motion for new trial. Supp. App. 64, l. 25. Subsequently, the judge issued a written order denying the motion. Supp. 67.³

The appeal

Petitioner filed a notice of appeal that was perfected by LaNelle Cantey Durant. App. 198-209. On appeal, Petitioner challenged testimony from an officer that suggested Petitioner was guilty based on statements made by Petitioner during a telephone call. App. 198-209. By an opinion filed on March 28, 2012, the Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's convictions and sentences in an unpublished opinion. App. 231. State v. Spann, 2012-UP-207 (S.C. Ct. App. filed March 28, 2012). Remittitur was issued on April 13, 2012. App. 232.

Post-conviction relief proceedings

On December 31, 2012, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 233-245. Subsequently, Petitioner, with the assistance of counsel, filed an amended PCR application. App. 253-255. The matter proceeded to an evidentiary hearing on April 16, 2015, before the Honorable George C. James, Jr. App. 256.⁴ Bertila Boyd-Bostic represented Petitioner, and Daniel F. Gourley represented the state. App. 256. The parties re-convened on April 26, 2016. App. 332. Julie A. Coleman represented the state at the second hearing. App. 332. By an order filed September 30, 2016, then-Judge James denied Petitioner relief. App. 362-378.

³ When Petitioner's current counsel sought a copy of the order from the Lee County Clerk of Court, the Clerk provided counsel with an unsigned order that had not been clocked. Upon further inquiry, the Clerk stated the Office had no signed copy of the order or a clocked version of the order. Petitioner provided the unsigned order with no file stamp in the Supplemental Appendix because it is what the Clerk provided. See Supp. 67.

⁴ The exhibits introduced during the PCR hearing were left out of the appendix initially. This was an oversight. The exhibits from the PCR hearing are included in the Supplemental Appendix. Supp. App. 68-74.

On October 15, 2016, Petitioner served a notice of appeal. This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

I. Trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance in violation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution by failing to present an alibi defense through an available and willing alibi witness.

Relevant Facts

PCR hearing

Trial counsel's private investigator, John Davis, Jr., interviewed Clayton Plowden prior to Petitioner's trial. App. 264, l. 23-24. Plowden provided a written statement to Davis explaining that on the night of Lovely's death, Plowden was in Sumter *with* Petitioner. App. 265, ll. 1-5.

Trial counsel corroborated Davis's testimony. She agreed that Petitioner told her he had an alibi and that Davis interviewed his alibi witness. App. 274, l. 21 – App. 275, l. 1. Although trial counsel could not recall the individuals with whom she spoke, she claimed she also talked to individuals concerning the alibi. App. 275, ll. 1-3. Nevertheless, she was quick to add: "It wasn't a solid alibi." App. 275, l. 3. With no explanation, she provided that it was her opinion that the alibi witness could not testify that Petitioner was somewhere else "at the time of the alleged murder." App. 275, ll. 8-11.

Nevertheless, trial counsel wrote to the solicitor advising him that three individuals, including Plowden, would testify that Petitioner was with them on Bowman Road in Sumter at the time of the murder. App. 275, l. 12 – App. 276, l. 1. To explain the inconsistency between the letter and her PCR testimony, trial counsel offered that she "probably had not investigated more" at the time of the writing of the letter. App. 276, ll. 14-17. When explaining this, she seemed to backtrack:

As soon as I get alibi witness, I will talk to them. And it's in the alibi. There are times when I haven't investigated as well. I mean I try to, because I certainly want to make sure [I] do before I give it to the solicitor in case there's something against me or my client.

App. 276, ll. 17-22. When asked to clarify if she had investigated at the time she wrote the letter, she stated she could not remember. App. 276, ll. 23-25. However, she was adamant that if she had a good alibi witness, she would have wanted the witness to testify. App. 277, ll. 2-4. In fact, trial counsel asserted that if she felt like she had a good alibi witness, she would have requested a continuance when the state told her one of the witnesses she had listed and requested be transported from the prison was not transported because the prison was in quarantine. App. 278, l. 1 – App. 279, l. 17.

When pressed, trial counsel stated that “part of the problem” in the case was that she “could not verify the alibi witnesses” would state that Petitioner was with them at the time of the incident. App. 279, ll. 18-19. In light of her obvious request that the alibi witness be transported for testimony at the trial, trial counsel offered her assumption that she thought he was a good witness when she made the arrangements, but she “may have learned that [she] didn't feel that he was.” App. 284, l. 5 – App. 285, l. 4.

Clayton Plowden recalled that at the time of Petitioner's trial, he was incarcerated at Kirkland Correctional Institution. App. 336, ll. 1-4. He recalled speaking to Davis, but explained he never met with trial counsel regarding Petitioner's case. App. 336, ll. 10-15. Plowden provided Davis with a written statement. App. 336, ll. 20-24. His statement was dated March 29, 2010, just *one* day prior to Petitioner's trial. App. 337, ll. 3-12.

Order denying relief

In the order denying relief on this claim, the PCR judge explained that he found the credibility of Clayton Plowden “suspect.” App. 369. The judge then noted that Plowden was

incarcerated at the time of Petitioner's trial for forgery, a crime of dishonesty. App. 369. Additionally, Plowden stated he and Petitioner "were smoking marijuana and drinking gin from 10:00 p.m. through 1:00 a.m.," and these facts "would certainly not have put [Petitioner] in a good light." App. 369.

Next, the PCR judge concluded that "[t]rial counsel's explanation for not calling [Plowden] to testify at trial, *while not specifically articulated*, was that she simply did not feel he was a good alibi witness." App. 370 (emphasis added). "All in all," the PCR judge held, "trial counsel's decision not to call him to testify at trial was a valid strategy and the strategy was sufficiently articulated by trial counsel." App. 370.

Discussion

Criminal defendants are entitled to the effective assistance of counsel pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. "The benchmark for judging any claim of ineffectiveness must be whether counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984). To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, "the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient" and "that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense." Id. "When a convicted defendant complains of the ineffectiveness of counsel's assistance, the defendant must show that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." Id. at 687-688. "[T]he performance inquiry must be whether counsel's assistance was reasonable considering all the circumstances." Id. at 688. Concerning prejudice, "a defendant need not show that counsel's deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome in the case." Rather, "[t]he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the

result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” Id. at 694.

This Court has held that if trial counsel articulates a valid reason for employing certain strategy, then the conduct is not ineffective assistance of counsel. Stokes v. State, 308 S.C. 546, 548, 419 S.E.2d 778, 779 (1992). In Stokes, this Court determined trial counsel employed a valid strategy in not calling witnesses that he believed lacked credibility. Id. Similarly, this Court found counsel’s trial strategy reasonable in Drayton v. Evatt, 312 S.C. 4, 10-11, 430 S.E.2d 517, 521 (1993), where trial counsel did not present evidence of the defendant’s future adaptability because to do so would have allowed the introduction of negative psychiatric and discipline reports.

On the other hand, this Court found counsel’s performance deficient in Gilchrist v. State, 350 S.C. 221, 228 n.2, 565 S.E.2d 281, 285 n.2 (2002), for failing to object to the state’s vouching for the credibility of a witness where counsel stated he decided not to object based upon a strategy, but never articulated that strategy. In Sanchez v. State, 351 S.C. 270, 276, 569 S.E.2d 363, 366 (2002), this Court determined trial counsel’s reason for not objecting to an officer’s hearsay testimony of the alleged assault on a child victim, which was that the testimony would help show the allegations were vague, was unreasonable because the hearsay corroborated the victim’s testimony.

In sum, if trial counsel articulates a valid reason for employing certain strategy, then the conduct is not ineffective assistance of counsel as long as the strategy used satisfies an objective

standard of reasonableness. Roseboro v. State, 317 S.C. 292, 294, 454 S.E.2d 312, 313 (1995); Stokes v. State, 308 S.C. 546, 548, 419 S.E.2d 778, 779 (1992).⁵

Without question, a trial attorney “has a duty to make reasonable investigations or to make a reasonable decision that makes particular investigations unnecessary.” Walker v. State, 407 S.C. 400, 405, 756 S.E.2d 144, 147 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691). “One component of that duty is to investigate alibi witnesses identified by a defendant, and the failure to make some effort to contact them to ascertain whether their testimony would aid the defense is unreasonable.” Id.

In Walker, 407 S.C. at 407, 756 S.E.2d at 147, this Court held trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance by failing to interview Walker’s girlfriend regarding Walker’s whereabouts on the night of the alleged kidnapping and sexual assault. At the PCR hearing, Walker’s girlfriend testified that when she was dating Walker, which included the time of the alleged kidnapping and sexual assault, the two spent every weekend together. Id. at 406, 756 S.E.2d at 147. This Court acknowledged that the girlfriend’s “testimony was not as clear as it could have been, due in part to the passage of five years, one viable interpretation of it was that Walker spent the night of March 2 with her.” Id. at 407, 756 S.E.2d at 147. Thus, “it would be physically impossible for Walker to have committed the kidnapping and assaults.” Id. at 406, 756 S.E.2d at 147. This Court held Walker was entitled to relief based upon his counsel’s failure to interview his alibi witness. Id.

⁵ See also Dawkins v. State, 346 S.C. 151, 551 S.E.2d 260 (2001)(holding trial counsel’s failure to object to prejudicial hearsay because he did not want to confuse or upset the jury was not valid strategy); Gallman v. State, 307 S.C. 273, 414 S.E.2d 780 (1992)(finding a failure to object to the trial judge’s comments encouraging the jury to deliberate early was not a reasonable strategic decision).

Trial counsel failed to call Plowden as an alibi witness at Petitioner's trial, despite his willingness and ability to testify that Petitioner was in Sumter County when the shooting occurred in Lee County. Trial counsel's explanation for her failure to present an alibi defense was she did not believe the witness provided a solid alibi. She offered no evidence to support this belief, and the record evidence belied her testimony. She put the state on notice of her intent to present an alibi defense, specifically through Plowden as a witness. She requested that Plowden be transported to the trial. On the day *immediately* preceding Petitioner's trial, Plowden provided trial counsel with a written statement confirming Petitioner's alibi – he was in Sumter when Lovely was shot in Lee County. Trial counsel's alleged strategic reason for not calling Plowden as an alibi witness was not supported by the facts in the record, and any strategy alleged to have been employed by trial counsel was unreasonable in light of the facts and circumstances.

Trial counsel's failure to present the alibi defense prejudiced Petitioner as it denied Petitioner an opportunity to defend against the state's extremely weak case. The prosecution's only evidence against Petitioner was the testimony of Mary Ann Lovely, the deceased's mother. Although trial counsel questioned Mary Ann regarding perceived inconsistencies in her testimony with prior statements she had given, trial counsel failed to provide Petitioner with an affirmative defense – alibi. Had trial counsel provided the jury with the defense of alibi, there is a reasonable probability that the outcome would have been different in light of the prosecution's reliance upon scant evidence of guilt.

II. Trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance in violation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution by failing to call an available and willing witness to impeach the state's only eyewitness where no physical evidence connected Petitioner to the crime.

Relevant Facts

PCR hearing

Prior to Petitioner's trial, defense counsel's investigator, Davis, interviewed Michael Spann, who was incarcerated at Trenton Correctional Institution at the time. App. 265, ll. 6-15. He knew Petitioner and the deceased from having lived in the area. App. 265, l. 18 – App. 266, l. 1. In light of his friendship with the deceased and the deceased's family, Michael Spann spent a considerable amount of time with the family around the time of the funeral. App. 266, ll. 23-25. When Michael asked Mary Ann if she saw Petitioner shoot her son, she confided that she did not because she was in her room asleep. App. 267, ll. 1-4. Davis made sure trial counsel was aware of his investigation, including his interview with Michael Spann. App. 269, ll. 14-22.

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