STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Lee County  
George C. James, Jr., Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

Appellate Case No. 2016-002135  
\_\_\_\_\_

RECEIVED

NOV 01 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

JAMES KEION SPANN,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

\_\_\_\_\_  
**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**  
\_\_\_\_\_

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JULIE A. COLEMAN  
Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 102214

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. Probative evidence supports the PCR court's finding that Trial Counsel sufficiently articulated a valid strategy in choosing not to call a potential alibi witness at trial.**

Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in finding Trial Counsel was not ineffective for failing to call alibi witness Clayton Plowden at trial. However, the PCR court correctly relied on probative evidence in making its finding that Trial Counsel relied on a valid strategy in choosing not to call this witness, and thus could not be found ineffective, and this Court should affirm its findings.

At trial, the State's eyewitness, Mary Ann Lovely, testified that a man she recognized as Petitioner by his nickname "Duc" knocked on her door with a gun in his hand before breaking into her home and shooting and killing her son. App. 64-89. Trial Counsel originally notified the State of her intention to call alibi witness Clayton Plowden, but she did not call him as a witness at trial because he was unavailable. The Solicitor explained to the trial court that her witness was quarantined in a state prison facility because of an illness, and he would not be transported. App. 105, line 18-23. Trial Counsel did not request a continuance, but told the trial court "I don't think that's a problem. I don't anticipate us calling him anyway." App. 105, line 24-25. The trial court affirmed, "So you're telling me you're not planning on calling this person any way?" App. 106, line 4-5. Trial Counsel responded, "That's correct." App. 106, line 6.

At the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner presented testimony from Clayton Plowden, who claimed he was with Petitioner on the night of the crime. App. 335-345. Plowden testified that he was with Petitioner from around 10:00 P.M. until at least 1:00 A.M. in Sumter on the night in question, and they were all drinking gin and smoking marijuana. App. 340, line 6-7; App. 341,

line 17-20. He stated he gave a statement to an investigator, but Trial Counsel never contacted him. App. 341, line 21- App. 342, line 16.

Trial Counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing that she could not remember her investigation of Plowden or others as an alibi witness. When asked when she investigated him, she responded, “I cannot remember. I don’t know if they came over and then I spoke with them, and it wasn’t as good as I thought. I just cannot remember. But I do know that if I had had a good alibi witness, I would have wanted them to testify.” App. 276, line 25 – App. 277, line 4. She testified that she could not exactly remember speaking with Plowden prior to the trial. App. 277, line 17-19. Trial Counsel testified that she could not verify that the alibi witnesses could state Petitioner was with them at the time of the incident, but if she had felt like Plowden was a good alibi witness, she certainly would have requested a continuance in order to have him present at trial. App. 279, line 12-23.

Based on Trial Counsel’s testimony, the PCR court held “Trial counsel’s explanation for not calling [Plowden] to testify at trial, while not specifically articulated, was that she simply did not feel he was a good alibi witness. All in all, trial counsel’s decision not to call him to testify at trial was a valid strategy and the strategy was sufficiently articulated by trial counsel.” App. 370. The PCR court based this finding on Trial Counsel’s explanation of why she chose not to call Plowden as a witness as well as Plowden’s testimony and demeanor at the evidentiary hearing. The PCR court, after hearing Plowden’s testimony, held his credibility was “suspect.” App. 369. The PCR court specifically noted the fact that Plowden was incarcerated at the time of trial following a forgery conviction, and that forgery is a crime of dishonesty. App. 369. It explained that the substance of his testimony regarding drinking gin and smoking marijuana on the night of the crime would not have put him in a good light before the jury, and his credibility was easily

called into question by his lack of sobriety and the possibility that he could not remember the time accurately. App. 369-370. All of this testimony is probative evidence supporting the PCR court's finding that Trial Counsel had a valid strategic reason in choosing not to call Plowden as a witness.

Strickland requires that trial counsel must be given leeway to make reasonable strategic decisions. No particular set of detailed rules for counsel's conduct can satisfactorily take account of the variety of circumstances faced by defense counsel or the range of legitimate decisions regarding how best to represent a criminal defendant. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 688-689 (1984). "Representation is an art, and an act or omission that is unprofessional in one case may be sound or even brilliant in another." Id. at 691. Therefore, judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential. Id. at 689. Where counsel articulates a valid strategic reason for his action or inaction, counsel's performance should not be found ineffective. Roseboro v. State, 317 S.C. 292, 454 S.E.2d 312 (1996); Underwood v. State, 309 S.C. 560, 425 S.E.2d 20 (1992); Stokes v. State, 308 S.C. 546, 419 S.E.2d 778 (1992). Courts must be wary of second guessing counsel's trial tactics; and where counsel articulates a valid reason for employing such strategy, such conduct is not ineffective assistance of counsel. Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 417 S.E.2d 529 (1992).

Here, the PCR court found that the strategy Trial Counsel articulated was valid, and her choice could not be found deficient. The PCR court relied upon several reasons why Plowden was not a credible or necessary witness, as well as Trial Counsel's opinion that he was not a good alibi witness. Trial Counsel testified that the issue in this case was that she could not verify that Plowden would be able to testify that he was with Petitioner at the time of the crime. App. 279, line 12-23. Her choice not to call this witness was clearly a valid strategy, and this Court

should not second guess her tactics. Therefore, because Trial Counsel was not deficient, and Petitioner has failed to prove either prong of the Strickland test, this Court should affirm the PCR court's ruling.

**II. Probative evidence supports the PCR court's finding that Trial Counsel was not ineffective for failing to call witness Michael Spann to impeach the State's eyewitness.**

Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in finding Trial Counsel was not ineffective for choosing not to call Michael Spann as a witness at trial. However, the PCR court correctly relied on probative evidence in making its finding that Spann's testimony would not have changed the outcome of the trial, and this Court should affirm its findings.

At trial, the State's witness, Mary Ann Lovely, testified that she witness the shooting of her son, Lindsey. She testified that she was awake in her home on the night of the crime when she heard a knock at the door. App. 66. When she went to the door, she saw Petitioner, who she knew as "Duc," through the peephole; she recognized him because she had seen him before. App. 66. She saw Petitioner holding a gun and heard him cock it before running down the hall to warn Lindsey that "the boy" was at the door. App. 69-70. She then ran into her other son's bedroom, who is disabled, to protect him by hiding him under the bed. App. 70. She heard a gunshot, saw Petitioner coming in the door, and ran back to her disabled son. App. 70-71. When the commotion stopped, she came out and saw Lindsey lying on the floor with two bullets in his chest and blood gushing out his side. App. 71.

At the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner presented testimony from Michael Spann. Spann testified that he and Petitioner were distant cousins and he has known Petitioner since he was a child. App. 346, line 1-15. He stated he was a friend of the victim and his family, and he "had some dealings" with Mary Ann Lovely. App. 346, line 16 – App. 347, line 6. He testified that he

spoke about the case several times with the family and they told him their side of the story. App. 347, line 6-14. He stated that Mary Ann Lovely told him that on the night of the crime, they never saw who shot her son because she was too scared to come out of her room. App. 348, line 4-14. He stated she told him she heard a loud noise and gunshots, waited about five minutes, and when she came out she saw her son lying dead on the floor. App. 348, line 4-14.

At the first evidentiary hearing, Trial Counsel testified that she did investigate Michael Spann as a witness, but she could not recall speaking to him. App. 280. Although it appears from her testimony that Trial Counsel may have incorrectly recalled Michael Spann as an alibi witness rather than a witness to impeach the state's witness, Trial Counsel generally explained her choice not to call Michael Spann because she did not believe he was a credible witness. App. 304.

The PCR court held Trial Counsel was deficient for failing to call Michael Spann as a witness because she did not articulate a valid strategy in her choice, even though many valid reasons might have existed for not calling him to testify.<sup>2</sup> App. 373. However, the PCR court ruled Trial Counsel was not ineffective because there was no prejudice:

---

<sup>2</sup> Respondent does not concede Trial Counsel's deficiency, and maintains that her choice not to call this witness was not deficient. Respondent respectfully submits the PCR court applied an incorrect standard in its analysis. The PCR court found, somewhat begrudgingly, that it was constrained to find Trial Counsel deficient because she was unable to recall her strategy: "As noted in *Smith, supra*, the presumption of adequate representation disappears when trial counsel articulates no strategy...The court must therefore conclude that the Applicant has satisfied the first *Strickland* prong...even though many valid reasons might have existed for not calling Michael Spann to testify." App. 373. The PCR court then specifically listed at least three reasons why the failure to call Spann was not deficient.

The *Smith* citation to which the PCR court refers actually reads "The presumption of adequate representation **based on a valid trial strategy** disappears when trial counsel **acknowledged there was no trial strategy** in mind when he failed to object to the improper hearsay and bolstering testimony." *Smith v. State*, 386 S.C. 562, 568, 689 S.E.2d 629, 633 (2010) (emphasis added). Respondent submits the PCR court misapplied this quotation to this case. First, this standard only affects the presumption of adequate representation based on a valid trial strategy. A valid trial strategy is not necessary to prove an action or inaction was not deficient. Under *Strickland*, trial counsel is presumed competent, even if they do not have a specific strategy in mind. However, articulating a valid strategic reason would automatically disprove deficiency. Finally, here, in contrast to *Smith*, Trial Counsel simply could not remember what her strategy was. She did not admit or acknowledge that there was **no strategy** in her decision. Therefore, this *Smith* standard does not apply.

The question of prejudice in this case is close. However, after exhaustive reading of the trial transcript and after careful review of the PCR testimony, the court concludes that there is not a reasonable probability that the outcome of the trial would have been different if Michael Spann had been called to testify.

App. 374. The PCR court went on to list several specific reasons for its conclusion that Spann's credibility was "too suspect" and his testimony "would have been too tainted for a jury to have found him credible." App. 375. First, the order noted Spann was an admitted former gang member. App. 375. Spann testified in his statement to investigator Davis that he knew the victim "from being a part of the neighborhood [C]rip gang that hung around in the St. Mark area at Bishopville." App. 265, line 22-24. He went on to explain how he used to be part of the bloods in Lee County, and he "can respect both sides, [C]rips and [B]loods." App. 266, line 3-5. He explained, "That's how me and [the victim] became good friends, because I was one of the only bloods that could go to this area alone, and not catch problems." App. 266, line 5-8.

The order then noted Spann had a criminal record and was incarcerated at the time of the trial, which certainly would have been brought to the jury's attention, through both the State's cross-examination and Spann's own testimony. App. 375. For example, Spann explained in his statement to Investigator Davis, "Around the time this situation happened, I had just got out of some trouble similar to this one. So when it occurred, everyone was calling my phone asking me did I shoot someone else, because they got a person on the news. They are looking for the name Spann for a murder." App. 266, line 8-13. Spann noted he was currently incarcerated at Trenton Correctional Institution, App. 265, line 13-15, and testified he was in prison for armed robbery, App. 354, line 6-8.

The order finally pointed out that Spann was related to Petitioner and had known him for many years. App. 375. Spann testified he and Petitioner were distant cousins with the same last

name, and he had known Petitioner since he was a child. App. 346, line 1-15. This would certainly give him a motive to testify favorably for Petitioner, and cause the jury to doubt his credibility. The PCR court concluded Spann's testimony would have been too tainted for the jury to find him credible, and there is therefore not a reasonable probability that the jury would have found Petitioner not guilty had he testified. App. 375.

The reasons specifically stated above are clearly probative evidence supporting the PCR court's ruling. It is clear from the order of dismissal that the PCR court spent a good deal of time and effort reviewing the record before the court in making what it believed to be a close decision. Therefore, because probative evidence supports the PCR court's finding that there was no prejudice, this Court should affirm and uphold its ruling.

## CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari. Should this Court grant the Petition for Writ of Certiorari, Respondent requests permission to more fully brief the issues herein.